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Delete this summary before sending to Vendor.  Employers and other health care purchasers (or their business associates) require data to improve the value of the purchaser’s health care spending but can face significant acquisition barriers and dissemination restrictions.  Purchasers can use Catalyst for Payment Reform’s Vendor Self-Assessment & RFI Questionnaire for Enhancing Data Stewardship to ask important questions of their incumbent or potential vendors about data ownership, access, sharing, and transmission.  Alternatively, a purchaser can request that the vendor completes this document as a self-assessment, then meet with the purchaser to review vendor’s perspectives on data stewardship.
If Purchaser decides to use this tool as a standard RFI, Purchaser should delete the tables describing question expectations and Vendor’s self-rating prior to sending to Vendor. In addition, Purchaser should carefully read the contents herein and adapt to their needs and apply local context, including but not limited to adapting based on local regulations.
↓Sample Expectation/Assessment table – delete these tables if using as an RFI.
    [image: ]
I. About <Purchaser>

<Purchaser> (hereafter, “Purchaser”), in sponsoring a group health plan as defined by Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), Public Health Service Act (PHSA), or [other regulating body/legislation] abides by the regulations cited in the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) and ensuing guidance of the law.  Purchaser has contracted with Business Associates (BAs), as defined under HIPAA, such as Third-Party Administrator(s) and other vendors, who support Purchaser’s efforts to deliver high-value health care to Purchaser’s employees and their families.  Purchaser maintains HIPAA privacy and security compliance, including up-to-date Business Associate Agreements (BAAs) with identified BAs.  The table below identifies existing BAs of Purchaser and the services each BA provides to Purchaser and its population.  
Table 1.
	BAs (including TPAs)
	Summary of BA Services
	BAA In Place? (Yes/No)

	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete

	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete

	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete

	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete

	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete

	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete

	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete

	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete

	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete

	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete
	Purchaser to complete


II. Vendor’s Data Sharing Obligations

A. Data Ownership and Obligations to Purchaser

This section is designed to establish Purchaser’s ownership rights to data that stem from Purchaser’s relationship with Vendor and Vendor’s services to Purchaser and its individual participants.  Purchaser refers to this data throughout this questionnaire as “complete, individual, unredacted participant data” and/or “individual data”. 
Note, Vendor’s incomplete or inaccurate response to this Section A may be grounds for disqualification from Purchaser’s competitive bid process and/or termination by Purchaser of an executed agreement.
1. Purchaser is a self-insured employer as regulated under ERISA/PHSA or [other regulating body/legislation].  Purchaser sponsors a Group Health Plan (“Plan”) and manages the operations of the Plan, including managing the Plan’s assets as a fiduciary.  Please confirm that Purchaser, as Plan sponsor and fiduciary, is the owner of Purchaser’s complete, individual, unredacted participant data through Vendor.

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor agrees that Purchaser, as Plan sponsor and fiduciary, is the owner of Purchaser’s complete, individual, unredacted data through Vendor. 

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



1b.  Please confirm that Purchaser owns Purchaser-specific derived data, defined as Purchaser’s       
        individual data that has been applied, in whole or in part, to yield insights or intelligence?

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Purchaser owns data derived from its own individual data.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



1c.  Provide the exact language in Vendor’s standard agreement with regards to individual and derived 
       data ownership by Purchaser and/or Vendor.

Vendor’s Response:      
	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor’s contract language clearly states self-insured purchaser is the owner of its data.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



2. If Vendor cannot confirm statement in #1, provide Vendor’s official position regarding Purchaser’s ownership of individual data through Vendor.

Vendor’s Response:      
	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor identifies very few, if any, circumstances where it – as opposed to the Purchaser - owns Purchaser-specific data.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



2b.  If Vendor cannot confirm statement in #1b, provide Vendor’s official position regarding Purchaser’s ownership of derived data.
Vendor’s Response:      
	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor identifies very few, if any, circumstances where it – as opposed to Purchaser - owns Purchaser-specific derived data.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



3. If Vendor cannot confirm statement in #1 or #1b, complete the table below citing the specific individual and derived data elements the Purchaser does not own, the reason for non-ownership, and confirm that Vendor’s policies are applied consistently across the entirety of its client base.

Table 2.
	Individual and/or derived data element?
	Reason for non-ownership.
Cite either Legal (L), Proprietary to Vendor (P), Business Decision (B), or Other (O - cite rationale)?
	Please confirm that Vendor applies this policy consistently across all of its clients, without exception - Yes or No?

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     



	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Any exceptions to Purchaser’s full ownership of individual or derived data elements are due to legal constraints.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



4. What is Vendor’s process for transmitting individual data to Purchaser?  Please explain.

Vendor’s Response:      
	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor transmits individual data to Purchaser through a secure, standardized mutually agreed upon file format.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



5. For which organizational purposes does the Vendor use Purchaser’s deidentified data (e.g., staff training and maintaining a robust benchmarking database)?

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor’s use of Purchaser’s deidentified data limited to improving internal services, including, but not limited to, staff training and maintaining a robust benchmarking database.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



6. Please confirm that Vendor will disclose direct and indirect compensation it receives for its use of Purchaser’s data to provide consultative, benchmarking, or other services that rely upon Purchaser’s data.

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor agrees to disclose compensation it receives for its use of Purchaser’s data to provide consultative, benchmarking, or other services that rely upon Purchaser’s data.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



7. Please confirm that Purchaser will be notified when Vendor intends to sell or license Purchaser’s deidentified individual data to a third-party.    
a. If Vendor charges a fee for Purchaser to suppress the sale of their data, what is the fee and how does Vendor calculate it?  

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Purchaser will be informed if and when Vendor intends to sell or license Purchaser’s data to a third-party.  Vendor does not charge a fee to Purchaser to suppress the sale of Purchaser’s data.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



8. [bookmark: _Hlk82515692]Describe the data audit rights, including scope, frequency, and any restrictions, conferred to Purchaser through Purchaser’s contract with Vendor. Please describe the lead time Vendor requires to fulfill audit-related data requests.

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Purchaser should retain the right to an annual audit for data accuracy and reporting processes.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



B.  Sharing Data and Obligations to Purchaser’s BAs:

1. As outlined in Table 1, Purchaser contracts with multiple BAs to supplement Purchaser’s sponsored health plan(s).  Purchaser’s BAs require certain data elements to carry out contractually obligated services.  Please indicate Vendor’s willingness to share Purchaser-specific data with each BA.

Table 3.
	BA
	Vendor is willing to share Purchaser-specific individual data without restriction – Yes or No?
	Vendor’s rationale for overruling Purchaser, which is a HIPAA covered entity? 

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     

	     
	     
	     



	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor is willing to provide Purchaser-specific data to Purchaser’s BAs of choice.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



2. Under what circumstances does Vendor require a Purchaser to execute a non-disclosure agreement (NDA) or data use agreement (DUA) to access and/or use data?  Under what circumstances does Vendor require a Purchaser’s BA to execute an NDA or DUA to access and/or use data?  

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor indicates that it uses a single NDA or DUA to cover all data access and use requests from Purchaser and each of its BAs with limited exception. 

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



3. Please confirm the following with regards to Vendor’s NDA and/or DUA:
a. The intention of an NDA and/or DUA between Vendor and Purchaser and/or Purchaser’s BAs is for the sole purpose of protecting Vendor from liability under current laws and regulations.
b. Vendor permits Purchaser to review any and all Purchaser-specific NDAs and/or DUAs between Vendor and Purchaser’s BAs prior to execution.
c. Any allowances and rights enumerated in the agreement between Vendor and Purchaser shall not be invalidated, obstructed, or otherwise circumvented by Vendor’s NDAs and/or DUAs with Purchaser and/or Purchaser’s BAs.

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor agrees to these Purchaser stipulations with regards to any NDA and/or DUA.

	TPA’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



4. Purchasers and their BAs (e.g., point solution vendors, TPAs, data warehouse & analytics companies, and benefits consultants) all report impediments to obtaining data from other BAs to perform their services for purchasers.  For avoidance of doubt, and if the data element is applicable to your product, please confirm that Vendor agrees to providing the following data to Purchaser and/or Purchaser’s BAs when Purchaser and its BAs have an existing BAA in place:

Table 4.
	Data element:
	Vendor agrees to provide data element, assuming an existing BAA is in place between the Purchaser and its BAs – Yes, No, or N/A?
	If No or N/A, explain Vendor’s rationale.

	a. An appropriate member identifier (e.g., member ID, unique ID for fully insured, or social security number for self-insured)?
	     
	     

	b. Accurate provider demographic data, including provider name, clinical designation, provider office/servicing address, and National Provider Identifier (NPI) number for rendering provider?
	     
	     

	c. Accurate provider network status data, including the networks in which a provider participates (e.g., broad network, tiered network, high-performance network, narrow network, center of excellence, accountable care organization)?
	     
	     

	d. Financial data, including billed amounts, allowed amounts (prior to member cost share), member cost share (deductible, co-pay, co-insurance), and paid amounts by claim?
	     
	     

	e. Clinical data, including diagnosis codes, prior authorization/pre-certification, admission, discharge, and transfer data, to perform clinical management functions, including closing gaps-in-care?
	     
	     

	f. Sensitive conditions/treatments (e.g., MH, SUD, HIV, genetic testing), displayed with the most precise service code(s) and any other data element contained in the claim or encounter transaction?
	     
	     



	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor agrees to provide Purchaser and/or Purchaser’s BAs with the individual data that allows Purchaser and/or Purchaser’s BAs to perform their services.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



5. For avoidance of doubt, please confirm that Purchaser and/or Purchaser’s BAs have unrestricted use of Purchaser’s individual data unless otherwise prohibited by local, state, or federal law when Purchaser and BAs have an existing BAA in place. Purchaser may choose to use the data for the following:

Table 5.
	Data use case:
	Purchaser and/or Purchaser’s BAs can use Purchaser’s individual data, assuming an existing BAA is in place between the Purchaser and its BAs – Yes, No, or N/A?
	If No or N/A, explain Vendor’s rationale.

	a. Benchmarking
	     
	     

	b. Comingling of claims data with other employer-purchasers’ claims data
	     
	     

	c. Conducting an opportunity analysis
	     
	     

	d. Conducting cross-vendor analysis
	     
	     

	e. Conducting Requests for Information (RFIs) or Requests for Proposals (RFPs)
	     
	     

	f. Contracting with business coalitions or collectives
	     
	     

	g. Contracting directly with accountable care organizations, centers of excellence, or other providers
	     
	     

	h. Creating a Purchaser-specific price and quality transparency tool
	     
	     

	i. Creating a Purchaser-specific health care comparison database
	     
	     

	j. Creating any type of network and/or plan comparison
	     
	     

	k. Directing, i.e., steering, Plan participants to high-value Providers
	     
	     

	l. Evaluating a clinical management strategy
	     
	     

	m. Evaluating a narrow network
	     
	     

	n. Financial analysis, including evaluating pricing and margins
	     
	     

	o. Conducting Plan fiduciary activities, e.g., auditing
	     
	     

	p. Transitioning to a new vendor
	     
	     



	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor agrees to allow Purchaser and/or Purchaser’s BAs to use Purchaser’s individual data for these use cases.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



6. Please confirm that Vendor agrees to transfer Purchaser’s most recent three years (36 months) of individual data within ten (10) business days to Purchaser and to the BA(s) of Purchaser’s choice. What is the fee for this transfer, and is it included in Vendor’s administrative fees?

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor agrees to transfer at least three years of Purchaser’s most recent individual data within ten (10) business days to Purchaser and to the BA(s) of Purchaser’s choice.  Fee is either included in Vendor’s administrative fees or is a reasonable additional administrative fee.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



7. Please confirm that Vendor agrees to transfer Purchaser’s monthly individual data within five (5) business days from the end of each month to Purchaser and the BA(s) of Purchaser’s choice. What is the fee for this transfer, and is it included in Vendor’s administrative fees?

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor agrees to transfer Purchaser’s monthly data within five (5) business days from the end of each month to Purchaser and the BA(s) of Purchaser’s choice.  Fee is either included in Vendor’s administrative fees or is a reasonable additional administrative fee.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



8. Please confirm whether, upon termination of contract between Vendor and Purchaser, Vendor agrees to transfer Purchaser’s most recent three years (36 months) of individual data to the new vendor of Purchaser’s choice. What is the fee for this transfer, and is it included in the core fees?

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor agrees to transfer at least three years of Purchaser’s most recent individual data to a new vendor upon contract termination. Fee is either included in core fees or is a reasonable additional administration fee.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



9. For any ad hoc data requests, what fees, if any, does Vendor charge? If Purchaser wishes, does Vendor agree to allow Purchaser to pay fees using broker-consultant commissions?

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Within legal confines, Vendor allows Purchaser to pay extra charges for data requests using commissions.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



10. What types of data would Vendor find valuable to receive from Purchaser and/or its BAs for the purpose of improving the value of health care for Purchaser and its participants?

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor demonstrates willingness to use available data from Purchaser, its TPA, and its BAs to improve the value of Purchaser’s health care dollar. 

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



C. Vendor’s Data Transmission & Infrastructure Roadmap

1. So that Purchaser and its BAs can evaluate the Vendor’s standard data feed, please provide Vendor’s standard machine-readable file and dictionary, and identify any elements where data may be missing or inconsistent.

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor provides its standard machine-readable file and dictionary and identifies data elements and fields where data are missing or inconsistent. 

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



2. Please describe in detail Vendor’s quality control process and standards for Vendor’s standard individual data file. 

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor has a rigorous quality control process in place and high standards limiting missing or inconsistent data.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



3. Provide Vendor’s guarantee for completeness and consistency of data contained in Vendor’s individual data file. For example, Vendor supports the use of an independent verification stream to ensure that individual data file provided to a Purchaser’s BA ties out within Vendor’s version as the data supplier. 

Vendor’s Response:      

	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor is willing to place administrative fees at risk, offering a high standard for complete and consistent data in its individual data file.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation



4. Does Vendor currently have Application Programming Interface (API) data transmission capability for Purchaser and Purchaser’s BAs in place? If not, when does Vendor intend to implement this feature?

Vendor’s Response:      
	Purchaser’s Expectation:  Vendor either has Application Programming Interface (API) capabilities in place or this feature is on Vendor’s implementation roadmap.

	Vendor’s Self-Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation

	Purchaser’s Assessment:
(check one of the boxes)
	☐ Does not meet expectation
	☐ Partially meets expectation
	☐ Meets/exceeds expectation
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